2006

IHC Health Services Inc. v. D&K Management Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether, in granting IHC Health Services, Inc. (“IHC”) summary judgment on the intensely fact dependent issue of waiver, the trial court failed to view the facts in the light most favorable to D&K and improperly drew inferences that were the province of the jury.

Standard of review: In an appeal from a summary judgment, “we view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to [the non-moving party], and we give no deference to the trial court’s decision.” *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Green*, 2003 UT 48, ¶3, 89 P.3d 97. Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *See Mitchell v. Christensen*, 2001 UT 80, ¶8, 31 P.3d 572. “Whether the trial court properly complied, on remand, with [the appellate court’s] decision ... is a question of law which we review for correctness.” *Slattery v. Covey & Co.*, 909 P.2d 925, 927 (Utah App.1995).

Preservation: R798-806.¹

2. Whether, in refusing to allow D&K a jury trial on substantial compliance as a defense to forfeiture of D&K’s leasehold, the trial court erred in:

- a. declaring forfeiture without a pleading of materiality of breach;
- b. ruling that D&K had not raised substantial compliance in pleadings;

¹All references to the Record on appeal begin with R followed immediately by the page number(s) assigned by the clerk of the trial court in paginating the Record.

c. ruling that law of the case precluded consideration of substantial compliance;

d. failing to consider D&K's Motion for Reconsideration under the standards applicable to Rule 54(b), Ut.R.Civ.P.; and

e. ruling that D&K had not presented facts that would support substantial compliance.

Standard of review: Questions about the legal accuracy of the trial court's statements present issues of law, which are reviewed for correctness. *Van Dyke v. Van Dyke*, 2004 UT App 37, ¶ 9, 86 P.3d 767. All conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness, granting the district court no deference. *See Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998). "We review for correctness the legal application of the law of the case doctrine." *Macris v. Sculptured Software, Inc.*, 2001 UT 43, ¶14; 24 P.3d 984. "The articulation of the proper legal standard . . . is a question of law which we review for correctness." *In re Estate of Beesley*, 883 P.2d 1343, 1347 (Utah 1994).

Preservation: R45 (Seventh Defense); R1252-68, 1284-93; Transcript R1108 at 15-16, 25-26, 34.

3. Whether the trial court's decision that IHC was entitled to attorney fees, under a lease provision allowing recovery of fees only in an action filed "during the term" of the lease, was erroneous because the court had ruled that the lease had been terminated prior to the action.

Standard of review: The award of attorney fees is reviewed for correctness. *Paul DeGroot Bldg. Servs., L.L.C. v. Gallacher*, 2005 UT 20, ¶18; 112 P.3d 490.

Preservation: R1233-41, 1318-23.

4. Whether, if IHC was entitled to attorney fees at all, the trial court committed error in awarding fees on the basis of the record below where:

a. IHC had failed to provide evidence upon which the trial court could determine that IHC's fees were necessary and reasonable;

b. IHC had failed to apportion its fees to matters on which it was successful and the court effectively shifted to D&K the burden of apportioning IHC's fees between successful and unsuccessful matters;

c. the court awarded IHC fees for matters on which it was not successful, contrary to applicable precedent; and

d. the court failed to make findings of fact necessary to permit appellate review of the reasonableness, necessity and apportionment issues.

Standard of review: The award of attorney fees is a matter of law reviewed for correctness.² *Paul DeGroot Bldg. Servs., L.L.C. v. Gallacher*, 2005 UT 20, ¶18; 112 P.3d 490. Whether sufficient evidence has been presented is reviewed for correctness. *Rose v. Provo City*, 2003 UT App 77, ¶7; 67 P.3d 1017.

Preservation: R1239-40, 1485-95, 1600-06.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

IHC filed an action seeking forfeiture of D&K's lease and common law ejectment. After this Court reversed a decision in favor of IHC, the trial court granted partial summary

²D&K is not challenging the reasonableness of the amount awarded as a factual matter. It seeks review on legal issues, as identified above.

judgment to IHC, ruling as a matter of law that it had not waived forfeiture. By reason of the lower court's certification of finality, D&K filed a second appeal, which was dismissed by the Court of Appeals for lack of jurisdiction. D&K's motion for reconsideration of substantial compliance issues was rejected, remaining claims were dismissed at IHC's request, and the trial court granted summary judgment awarding IHC attorney fees of \$307,264.90. The final judgment granted the forfeiture sought by IHC and disposed of all issues. D&K obtained an order staying execution pending this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Lease, Default, Forfeiture and Waiver

In January 1998, IHC purchased a shopping center in Murray, Utah, from Medical Plaza 9400 ("**Medical Plaza**") who, as landlord, had leased space in the center to D&K. R2, 39-40. Medical Plaza was owned and had been managed by Steve and Dan Rideout (the "**Rideouts**"). R118, ¶¶5-6. D&K had leased its space in the shopping center from Medical Plaza under a written lease agreement, dated July 18, 1994 (the "**Lease**"). R2, 12-22, 39. The initial term of the Lease was five years. It included three five-year renewal options. R12. Upon IHC's purchase of the shopping center, Medical Plaza assigned its interest in the Lease to IHC, and D&K became IHC's tenant. R2, ¶7; R39, ¶7. IHC's intent was to "get most of the tenants out of there." R390 (internal pages 28-29).

D&K's rent (initially \$3,280) was due "in advance on the first day of each calendar month." R12-13. The Lease afforded D&K a 10-day grace period to pay rent. R18, ¶17.1[a]. Upon the occurrence of any event constituting a "default" under the Lease, the Landlord may "[t]erminate this Lease by written notice to Tenant." R18-19, ¶17.2[c].

D&K had been late in making payments to Medical Plaza under the Lease on multiple occasions. R118-19. After IHC acquired the property, D&K was late in making its first payment to IHC in February 1998. R119-20. D&K neglected to pay its March 1998 rent in a timely manner under the Lease. R120, ¶10. D&K did, however, pay April 1998 rent in a timely manner, and IHC cashed D&K's April rent check on April 8, 1998. R120, ¶11; R100, ¶6; R258, ¶6; R278-79, ¶6.

Sometime after April 14, 1998, IHC sent D&K a Notice of Default and Forfeiture of Lease Agreement (“**Notice of Default**”) purporting to terminate the Lease based on D&K's failure to pay March and April rent.³ R29-30. On April 16, 1998, D&K paid March rent (plus a 10% late fee) to the Rideouts' office manager, who accepted D&K's check and issued D&K a receipt for the payment. R120, 127. Thereafter, on April 17, 1998, when IHC's corporate office learned that the Rideouts had accepted D&K's late payment of March rent, IHC attempted to revoke that acceptance by returning the March rent check uncashed to D&K. R3, ¶10; R40, ¶10; R120, ¶15; R292, ¶5. Each month from May 1998 until March 1999, D&K timely tendered monthly rent to IHC, which retained each of those checks but did not cash them. R100, ¶9; R120-21, ¶16-18; R259, ¶9.

On June 29, 1998, IHC sent a letter to D&K addressed “Dear Tenant,” demanding an increase in D&K's rent payments “[a]ccording to the terms of your lease agreement” from \$3,280.00 per month to \$3,335.40 per month, effective July 1, 1998.⁴ R120-21, ¶17; R129.

³IHC's Notice of Default was invalid as D&K had already paid the April rent in a timely manner and IHC had accepted and cashed that check.

⁴This was based on a rent escalation clause in the Lease. R13-14, ¶4.1

Each month thereafter: (a) D&K timely tendered the increased rent payments (R121, ¶18) and (b) IHC sent a monthly billing “Invoice” and a monthly “Statement” to D&K for the increased monthly rent amount. R121, ¶19; R131-49.

On January 21, 1999, IHC issued a letter to D&K addressed “Dear Tenant,” demanding that D&K, based on its “obligations” under the Lease, provide a certificate of insurance covering the leased property. R121, ¶20; R151. IHC further demanded proof that it had been added as an additional insured to D&K’s general liability policy.⁵ The letter gave D&K 30 days to produce the required certificate of insurance and warned that failure to do so “is a default under the terms of the Lease.” *Id.* On February 3, 1999, D&K responded by providing the required proof of insurance to IHC. R121-22, ¶21.

In March 1999, the parties signed an escrow agreement⁶ addressing the rent checks held by IHC and other issues. R157-62.

Additional Facts Concerning Substantial Compliance

From the inception of the Lease to January 1998, D&K had spent some \$200,000 in improving the leased property, in addition to substantial time and effort expended by D&K’s owner and his family members. R122, ¶23. The replacement cost of those improvements in May 2000 exceeded \$470,000. *Id.* D&K’s improvements to the leased premises included

⁵This was based on an insurance clause in the Lease. R17, ¶¶14.1 and 14.2

⁶The Consent, Reservation of Rights and Escrow Deposit Agreement provided that IHC could deposit into an escrow account the rent checks which D&K had thus far tendered and which IHC had kept but not cashed, but both D&K and IHC reserved their respective rights and arguments as they then existed. R157-58, ¶¶4 and 5.

bars, stages, a “DJ” box, dressing rooms, a kitchen, restrooms, sound systems, specialty lighting and electrical, floorings, HVAC and signage. *Id.*

D&K’s profits from its business on the leased premises are \$600,000 per year. R914. Its business is not transferable to another location due to its inability to obtain the necessary licensing elsewhere. *Id.* As of April 1998, D&K had available under the Lease more than sixteen additional years if it exercised all extensions. R12.

Interest at the 10% legal rate pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1(2) on the March 1998 rent payment from its March 1 due date until tendered on April 16, 1998 amounts to \$41.34 ($\$3,280 \times 10\% \times 46 \text{ days} / 365 \text{ days}$). The Lease provided for a 10% “service charge” if a payment was not timely made. R21. D&K’s payment of March 1998 rent tendered on April 16, 1998, included the 10% charge of \$328.00. R120, 127.

Procedural History and Rulings Below

In May 1999, IHC sued, seeking to enforce the Notice of Default issued thirteen months earlier, a declaratory judgment that D&K was in default for non-payment of the March 1998 rent, ejectment based on forfeiture of the Lease, and breach-of-contract damages. R1-10. D&K’s Answer and Counterclaim denied many of the factual allegations in the Complaint and raised the defenses of waiver, estoppel and unconscionability (which encompasses the doctrine of substantial compliance). R37-51. IHC filed “Defendant’s Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings” and a supporting memorandum. R57-85. It asserted that “[a]ll of D&K’s affirmative defenses fail as a matter of law.” R58. IHC addressed only D&K’s defenses that the Lease had been modified and that IHC had waived the failure to pay rent in March 1998. R60-69. Since IHC did not attack or even mention the defense of

unconscionability and was seeking only partial judgment on the pleadings, D&K was under no obligation to brief that defense or provide factual support for it.

D&K countered with its Motion for Summary Judgment, a supporting memorandum (which also opposed IHC's motion for partial judgment on the pleadings) and the Affidavit of Kent Bangerter. R86-89, 94-116, and 117-62. D&K asserted only waiver and an estoppel defense based on the landlord's failure to require strict compliance with the Lease. Waiver appeared to be dispositive under *Woodland Theatres, Inc. v. ABC Intermountain Theatres, Inc.*, 560 P.2d 700 (Utah 1977). The estoppel defense in similar situations had been upheld in Utah and other jurisdictions (*see* authorities cited in R108-10). For these reasons and because IHC had not challenged the defense of unconscionability, D&K requested summary judgment on the basis of those two defenses. By doing so, it did not waive substantial compliance or any other defense, but simply retained the right to present its defenses at trial if summary judgment were not granted in favor of D&K.

Because IHC elected, under Rule 56(f), to conduct discovery before responding to D&K's Motion for Summary Judgment, over a year passed before the trial court ruled on these two motions. Judge Livingston issued a Memorandum Decision dated May 31, 2001 granting IHC's "motions for judgment on the pleadings and summary judgment,"⁷ addressing no defenses of D&K other than waiver and ignoring *Woodland Theatres*. R630-37. He did not at any time consider or rule on substantial compliance issues.

IHC then took the position that the Memorandum Decision constituted a "final order." R638. D&K filed an appeal which led to the Court's opinion in March 2003, *IHC Health*

⁷In reality, IHC had filed only a motion for partial judgment on the pleadings.

Services, Inc. v. D & K Management, Inc., 2003 UT 5; 73 P.3d 320 (“**D&K I**”). When the Court considered the first appeal, the issue of finality was not mentioned. The Court’s opinion addressed only the waiver and equitable estoppel defenses. It remanded to the trial court for “further proceedings consistent with this opinion.” After considering and denying a petition for rehearing on equitable estoppel issues, the Court issued its Remittitur on July 10, 2003. R722-23.

Nothing further occurred in the trial court until October 2003, when IHC filed a Motion to Modify Order or for Summary Judgment. Index of Record at 8; R730-97. In reality, it was a continuation of the prior motion for judgment on the pleadings plus an alternative motion for partial summary judgment, as the motion did not address all claims and issues in the case. IHC asked the trial court to “remove all references in the [Memorandum] Decision to the return of the April rent” or alternatively enter “judgment as a matter of law based upon the undisputed facts.” R795. In its supporting memorandum, IHC argued only the issue of waiver and did not challenge or address any other defense, including that of unconscionability. R730-42. After briefing and oral argument, the trial court rejected the waiver defense as a matter of law and signed an Amended Order and Judgment on April 9, 2004. R878-81. That order addressed the defense of waiver in detail, but did not discuss any other defenses.

During a May 26, 2004 hearing on IHC’s request for certification of that order as final pursuant to Ut.R.Civ.P. 54(b), D&K raised the doctrine of substantial compliance (Transcript R1108 at 15-16), and the court directed the following question to IHC’s counsel:

Is there an argument, factual or legal, regarding ejectment going to substantial breach? I mean I think we’ve determined this but I see reference to

Delgado and to other cases and I believe Mr. Bronson was making some statement to the effect that they still have some defenses based on this was diminimous [sic] maybe.

Id. at 25-26. D&K advised the court that the issues addressed in the substantial compliance cases “are yet to be decided in this case.” *Id.* at 34. The court responded as follows:

I don’t think the Court can determine forfeiture—wavier [sic] equaling forfeiture without implicitly dealing with the Delgado-Buse [sic] line and the non-substantial—whatever the term is.

Id. After granting the contested 54(b) certification and D&K’s request for a stay pending appeal, the trial court entered an Order, Judgment and Certificate of Final Judgment as to Certain Claims on July 29, 2004,⁸ which vacated the April 9, 2004 Order. R1098-1103. In the July 2004 Order, the court ruled that IHC was entitled to judgment on its claims for forfeiture and declaratory judgment and that “D&K has forfeited the Lease.” R1100-01.

In the meantime, because IHC sought a certification of finality, D&K filed an appeal from the April 9, 2004 Order on June 10, 2004. R992-94. On a *sua sponte* motion for summary dismissal, the Court of Appeals issued a Memorandum Decision on January 27, 2005, dismissing the appeal for lack of jurisdiction on the grounds that the order appealed from was not final and was not entitled to certification under Rule 54(b). R1178-81. The case was remitted to the trial court on April 15, 2005. R1176.

While the second appeal was pending, IHC filed a Motion for Leave to File Supplemental Complaint on September 10, 2004. R1116-30. D&K consented, and such leave was granted on October 13, 2004. R1139-40. The Supplemental Complaint asserted four

⁸This judgment and all other orders from which this appeal is taken are reproduced in the Addendum.

causes of action, including forfeiture of the Lease based on a repair issue that arose during the litigation and declaratory relief to the effect that if the Lease were in force, D&K's renewal rights had expired. R1115E-1115O. Typical pretrial procedures were employed, and discovery was conducted on the issues raised by the Supplemental Complaint. *See* Index of Record at 12-13; R1183; R1189; R1194; R1195; R1271.

IHC in August 2005 filed a Combined Motion to Dismiss Damages Claims and Award Attorney's Fees and Costs, in which it moved to "dismiss any remaining damage claims" and sought a ruling of entitlement to attorney fees. R1205-07. In its accompanying Memorandum, IHC made clear that it sought attorney fees solely pursuant to Section 23⁹ of the Lease. R1202. D&K opposed the award of attorney fees on several grounds, including that Section 23 of the Lease did not permit the requested award because IHC's action was not, under its theory of the case, instituted during the term of the Lease and that IHC was not the prevailing party on all issues. R1233-41. The trial court granted IHC's request to dismiss its claims for damages, as well as its Supplemental Complaint. R1373.

After the remittitur from the Court of Appeals, D&K on October 3, 2005, filed Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration. R1252-68. It requested reconsideration of the July 29, 2004 Order based solely on the doctrine of "substantial compliance." The trial court denied the motion on January 23, 2006, ruling that it had "no right or discretion to consider" substantial compliance. R1370, 1372-73. The court deferred ruling on IHC's entitlement to attorney fees pending briefing from the parties on the "effect of D&K's holdover following

⁹Section 23 of the Lease is a "successful party" attorney fee-shifting clause expressly applicable only to an action instituted "during the term of this Lease." R20.

IHCHS' termination of the Lease, which the Court rules became effective as of the date of its April 14, 1998 notice terminating the Lease." R1374.

The court's Ruling and Order of May 8, 2006, awarded IHC "reasonable and necessary" attorney fees under Section 23 on the theory that termination of the Lease did not occur until the court decided in favor of IHC's forfeiture claim. R1385-86. Two months later, IHC filed its 90-page Affidavit of Attorneys' Fees, including every minute billed by 24 attorneys and paralegals during a period of over seven years. R1388-1477. It made no attempt to categorize fees among successful and unsuccessful claims or issues.

D&K filed Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Affidavit of Attorneys' Fees and Verified Memorandum of Costs (the "**Response**") on August 21, 2006. R1485. D&K pointed out IHC's failure to allocate time to matters on which it prevailed, complained of the lack of specificity in time descriptions and advocated that IHC should be awarded no fees because it had failed to carry its burden of proof as to reasonableness of the fees it claimed. R1486-88; R1491. D&K identified at least seven discrete matters in which IHC did not qualify as the prevailing party. R1488-90. These included IHC's original Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings (reversed on appeal), D&K's successful appeal in *D&K I*, D&K's efforts to stay enforcement of the judgment in connection with that appeal, IHC's failed motion to modify order, IHC's Pyrrhic battle for Rule 54(b) certification and the ensuing dismissal of the second appeal over IHC's objection, a motion by D&K in connection with the second appeal to stay enforcement of the judgment, the filing and dismissal of IHC's Supplemental Complaint, and IHC's dismissal of its damage claims, rendering its third cause of action nugatory in that it added nothing to the relief obtained on the first two claims. *Id.*

In a decision dated August 29, 2006, the trial court acknowledged that “allocation is the task of the party claiming fees,” but ruled that “failure to allocate (beyond the detailed billing) shall not preclude an award.” R1503. The court ruled that it had no ability to award fees for the first and second appeal and ordered IHC to file a revised fee submission eliminating all fees and costs for either appeal. R1503-04.

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