2006

# IHC Health Services Inc. v. D&K Management Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

More specifically, Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that, when a party moves for summary judgment, the nonmovant “may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but the response . . . must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e). In other words, the party opposing a motion for summary judgment has an affirmative duty to respond to the

motion with affidavits or other materials allowed by Rule 56(e). *Waddoups v. Amalgamated Sugar Co.*, 2002 UT 69, ¶¶ 31, 36, 54 P.3d 1054; *State Bank of S. Utah*, 894 P.2d at 1277. Under Rule 56(e), a non-moving defendant must support *any* affirmative defenses it intends to rely upon to defeat the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. *See Pantry, Inc. v. Stop-N-Go Foods, Inc.*, 796 F.Supp. 1164, 1167 (S.D. Ind. 1992) (holding that when a plaintiff moves for summary judgment on the issue of liability, the nonmovant has a duty to support any applicable affirmative defenses, and that simply pleading affirmative defenses in an answer does not preserve those defenses which are not argued in opposition to the motion for summary judgment). After summary judgment, a defense is no longer preserved simply because it was pled; under Rule 56(e), the defense must be *argued* to the trial court. *Id.*; *United States v. AMC Entm't, Inc.*, 232 F.Supp.2d 1092, 1118-19 (C.D. Cal. 2002).

Here, IHC moved for judgment on the pleadings as to whether D&K forfeited the Lease.<sup>9</sup> This triggered D&K's obligation to argue and support *any and all* affirmative defenses that would have defeated IHC's forfeiture claim.<sup>10</sup> D&K could have and should

---

<sup>9</sup> IHC's Motion was converted into a motion for summary judgment. *D&K I*, 2003 UT 5, n.1.

<sup>10</sup> The fact that IHC specifically anticipated D&K's modification and waiver defenses in its motion is completely irrelevant. IHC had no burden to preserve D&K's substantial compliance defense by specifically rebutting it. Rather, D&K had a duty under Rule 56(e) to set forth all of its arguments—including its substantial compliance argument—which would have shown that there was a genuine issue for trial. D&K claims that because "waiver was dispositive" it did not need to raise substantial compliance to the trial court or in *D&K I*. The disingenuity of this argument is revealed by the fact that D&K found it necessary to argue estoppel below and in *D&K I*. If waiver truly was "dispositive" query why D&K found it necessary to not only bring and argue estoppel but to also seek a redetermination of this Court that its estoppel argument failed.

have raised the substantial compliance defense in its cross-motion for summary judgment. Yet, D&K did not do so. (Appellant's Br. 8 ("D&K asserted only waiver and an estoppel defense.")) Nor did D&K raise a substantial compliance defense on its appeal to this Court in *D&K I*, or on remand to the trial court after *D&K I*. In fact, at a March 2004 hearing to decide the forfeiture issue on remand, the trial court gave D&K's counsel repeated opportunities to raise other defenses in addition to waiver. In response, D&K continued to rely solely on its waiver argument.

THE COURT: . . . if this Court was to determine under the undisputed facts that are now in the record, that a waiver has not occurred, is there some reason under the law of summary judgment, this Court could not do that?

COUNSEL FOR D&K: Absolutely. . . waiver . . . .

(Hr'g Tr., 10:3-12, Mar. 2, 2004; R. 839. Attached hereto as Exhibit C.)

The very first time that D&K even *mentioned* substantial compliance was two motions after Judge Hilder's question, during a May 2004 hearing on IHC's Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification. (Appellant's Br. 9.) However, at that hearing, following repeated interrogation by the trial court, D&K twice conceded that the forfeiture issue was resolved and only damages remained to be determined:

COUNSEL FOR D&K: I would agree that, given this Court's ruling, *there are no facts left – no facts left that have to be decided. There were no facts initially with this motion for summary judgment.*

\*\*\*

COUNSEL FOR D&K: But given this ruling, *there are no facts that have to be decided for possession.*

(Hr'g Tr., 5:2-10, May 26, 2004; R. 999. Ex. A (emphasis added).)

In sum, D&K clearly did not meet its burden under Rule 56(e) to set forth specific facts showing that there was a genuine issue for trial on substantial compliance. Thus, D&K waived any substantial compliance defense.

D. The Trial Court Was Well Within Its Discretion To Refuse To Consider The Substantial Compliance Defense on D&K's Motion to Reconsider.

D&K concedes that it first briefed the doctrine of substantial compliance to the trial court in its October 2005 Motion to Reconsider, a full year and a half after the trial court expressly asked D&K if there was *any* defense that would preclude summary judgment besides waiver,<sup>11</sup> and a *half decade* after IHC moved for judgment on the pleadings. (Appellant's Br. 11.) D&K argues that the trial court erred in refusing to reconsider its grant of summary judgment in favor of IHC on the grounds that D&K substantially complied with the Lease. For several reasons, D&K is wrong.

1. The Trial Court Was Not Required to Consider Substantial Compliance Because D&K Raised it For the First Time on a Motion to Reconsider.

A trial court has discretion in declining to consider defenses that are argued for the first time in a motion for reconsideration. *Matosantos Comm. Corp. v. Applebee's Int'l, Inc.*, 245 F.3d 1203, 1209 (10th Cir. 2001) ("A motion for reconsideration is not, however, an opportunity for the losing party to raise new arguments that could have been presented originally."); *Ogunwo v. Amer. Nat'l Insur. Co.*, 936 P.2d 606, 611 (Colo. Ct.

---

<sup>11</sup> D&K states that it first mentioned the issue of substantial compliance during the May 2004 hearing on IHC's Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification. (Appellant's Br. 9.) However, D&K concedes that it did not fully address the defense at the hearing, and instead argued that the defense was "yet to be decided." (*Id.*)

App. 1997) (“a court need not entertain new theories on a motion to reconsider following the grant of summary judgment”).

D&K did not raise substantial compliance during the summary judgment phase of the litigation, on appeal to this Court in *D&K I*, or on remand. This is especially surprising in light of D&K’s current contention that it has known about this argument since it filed its original answer. (See Appellant’s Br. 23 (arguing that D&K pled substantial compliance “at the outset of this litigation”).) Tellingly, D&K offers no justification for its failure to argue this defense to the trial court, despite the fact that it supposedly has been aware of the defense since the “outset” (other than the erroneous argument that IHC had the burden to raise the defense on its behalf). Accordingly, the trial court was under no obligation to consider D&K’s argument and therefore did not abuse its discretion in denying D&K’s Motion to Reconsider. See *Nance v. L.J. Dolloff Assoc., Inc.*, 126 P.3d 1215, 1221 (N.M. Ct. App. 2005) (finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion to reconsider a defense that a party knew about but failed to raise during the summary judgment phase of the litigation.)

Further, once a trial court declines to consider a new theory raised by a party on a motion to reconsider, that party cannot pursue its theory on appeal, as D&K seeks to do here. *Cooper v. Dist. Court*, 133 P.3d 692, 716 (Alaska Ct. App. 2006). Accordingly, this Court should: (1) affirm the trial court’s discretion to refuse to reconsider D&K’s substantial compliance defense, and (2) refuse to consider that defense on this appeal.

2. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled That the Law of the Case Doctrine Precluded it From Considering D&K’s Substantial Compliance Argument.

In denying D&K's Motion to Reconsider, the trial court found that, in addition to the fact that D&K waived its substantial compliance argument, D&K was precluded from bringing the argument under the law of the case doctrine.<sup>12</sup> (Order, Jan. 23, 2006, ¶ 9; R. 1370-75.) Therefore, even if this Court were to conclude that D&K did not waive its substantial compliance defense, the trial court's decision to deny D&K's Motion to Reconsider under the law of the case doctrine should be affirmed.

Simply stated, the law of the case doctrine renders a decision made on an issue during one stage of a case binding on successive stages of the same litigation. *Thurston v. Box Elder County*, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Utah 1995). The law of the case doctrine constrains a trial court's ability to reconsider its earlier rulings under Rule 54(b) of the rules of civil procedure.<sup>13</sup> *Virgin Atl. Airways, Ltd. v. Nat'l Mediation Bd.*, 952 F.2d 1245, 1255 (2d Cir. 1992) ("Even if Rule 54(b) allows parties to request district courts to revisit earlier rulings, the moving party must do so within the strictures of the law of the

---

<sup>12</sup> D&K misstates the trial court's rationale for declining its Motion to Reconsider. D&K argues that the trial court relied "exclusively" on the *Smith v. Osguthorpe* decision, 2005 UT App 11. (App.'s Brief at 25.) In fact, the trial court simply relied on the law of the case doctrine, "as described in *Smith v. Osguthorpe*." (Order, Jan. 23, 2006, ¶ 9; R. 1372 (emphasis added).) D&K's critique of the *Osguthorpe* decision, therefore, is of little avail to D&K, because the trial court correctly applied the law of the case doctrine, rather than one particular decision, to the facts of this case.

<sup>13</sup> Although D&K brought its Motion to Reconsider under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial court's denial of the Motion is more properly analyzed under Rule 54(b) because a final judgment had not yet been rendered. *See Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies*, 884 P.2d 1306, 1310 n.2 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (holding that "the substance, not the caption of a motion is dispositive" and analyzing a motion to reconsider under Rule 54(b) rather than Rule 60(b) because a final judgment was not rendered in the case). However, it is noteworthy that D&K did not properly bring its Motion to Reconsider and that D&K's Motion "is not provided for under the Utah Rules

case doctrine”); 10 *Moore’s Federal Practice* § 54.25[4] (3d ed. 2006) (“If motions based on the court’s power under Rule 54(b) could compel the court to revisit those adjudications, much of the advantage in making the early rulings would be lost. For this reason, the law of the case doctrine provides some protection from routine reexamination of interlocutory adjudications.”).

D&K argues that the trial court was wrong to apply the law of the case doctrine because that the law of the case doctrine only applies to “issues actually or necessarily decided in a previous appeal,” and the substantial compliance issue was never “decided in a previous appeal.” (Appellant’s Br. 25.) However, D&K’s argument relies on the “mandate rule,” which is merely one application of the multifaceted law of the case doctrine. *Thurston*, 892 P.2d at 1038 n.2 (“Law of the case terminology has been employed when addressing at least four distinct sets of problems. It has been used to justify a trial court’s refusal to reconsider matters in a continuing proceeding and an appellate court’s declining to reconsider matters resolved on a prior appeal. The terminology has also been used to express the principle that inferior tribunals are bound to honor the mandate of superior courts within a single judicial system. . . .”). Thus, D&K is wrong in arguing that the requirements of the “mandate rule” applied to the trial court on its Motion to Reconsider.

In fact, in the context of a motion for reconsideration, the law of the case doctrine “is more flexible than the mandate rule.” *Id.* at 1038. Indeed, on a motion to reconsider,

---

of Civil Procedure, and . . . has never been recognized as a proper motion in this state.” *Wisden v. Bangerter*, 893 P.2d 1057, 1058 (Utah 1995).

the law of the case doctrine simply holds that “a court is justified in refusing to reconsider matters it resolved in a prior ruling in the same case for reasons of efficiency and consistency” and that courts should not reopen issues previously decided unless narrow exceptional circumstances are present. *Id.* at 1039. Generally, the only “exceptional circumstances” under which a trial court should reopen an issue that is has previously decided are: (1) when there has been an intervening change of controlling authority; (2) when new evidence becomes available; or (3) when the prior decision was “clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice.” *Id.* Absent these “exceptional circumstances,” a trial court has *discretion* in refusing to revisit an issue that it had previously decided. *Mower v. Jorgensen*, 2006 UT App 329.

Here, the trial court, on remand from *D&K I*, decided that D&K forfeited the lease as a matter of law. (Order, July 29, 2004; R. 1098-1103.) Therefore, the law of the case doctrine applied and prevented the trial court from revisiting the issue on D&K’s Motion to Reconsider, absent “exceptional circumstances.” The trial court did not find any exceptional circumstances present. (See Order, Jan. 23, 2006, ¶ 7; R. 1372 (“The defense D&K wants to now argue is not new or novel, and indeed the main cases it relies upon in its present motion were all issued before D&K opposed IHCHS’s initial Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings.”); ¶ 8 (“D&K cannot now, without cause, ask this Court to consider newly developed arguments that it denied existed more than a year ago.”).) In sum, the trial court was well within its discretion in refusing to reconsider the substantial compliance issue.



Furthermore, even assuming *arguendo* that the law of the case doctrine’s “mandate rule” applied rather than the more flexible standards applicable to a motion for reconsideration, D&K’s argument that the trial court erred under the “mandate rule” still fails. Under the mandate rule, lower courts are bound to implement “both the letter *and the spirit* of the [appellate court’s] mandate, taking into account the appellate court’s opinion and the circumstances it embraces.” *Thurston*, 892 P.2d at 1038 (emphasis added). In other words, an appellate court need not rule on each and every particular issue in a case in order for the appellate court’s ruling to have preclusive effect. *Id.*

Here, although this Court did not specifically rule on the substantial compliance defense in *D&K I*, this Court *did* decide the appropriate treatment of the forfeiture issue. The “spirit” of this Court’s ruling was that the trial court should grant summary judgment in favor of IHC on the forfeiture issue if, after reconsideration of the totality of the circumstances, it found that waiver did not occur as a matter of law. *D&K I*, 2003 UT 5, ¶ 12. The spirit of the Court’s decision was *not*, as D&K suggests, that the trial court should afford D&K an opportunity to raise new defenses if it ultimately were to lose on the waiver argument. In fact, this Court explicitly ruled out the opportunity for D&K to raise a defense based on unconscionability: “Permitting IHC to enforce the forfeiture provision of the written lease after D&K’s failure to pay rent following a one-month acquiescence in late payment is not unconscionable.” *Id.* at ¶ 11. Thus, the trial court was correct in applying the law of the case doctrine to preclude D&K from rearguing the issue of forfeiture.

D&K next argues that the trial court's May 31, 2001 summary judgment decision was "reversed and no part of it was affirmed" by the Utah Supreme Court in *D&K I*. (Appellant's Br. 27.) Therefore, according to D&K, the trial court erred in denying its Motion to Reconsider because the "vacated Memorandum Decision rendered May 31, 2001 cannot possibly serve as a basis for application of law of the case." (*Id.*) D&K's argument is non sequitur for the simple reason that, in its Motion to Reconsider, D&K moved the trial court to reconsider the July 29, 2004 Order, *not the May 31, 2001 Order*. (Def.'s Mot. to Reconsider, Oct. 3, 2005; R. 1252-68.) Thus, the trial court denied reconsideration of its *July 29, 2004 Order* in part on the basis of law of the case. The July 29, 2004 Order has never been reviewed by an appellate court, let alone reversed or vacated. *See IHC Health Servs., Inc. v. D&K Mgmt., Inc.*, 2005 UT App 33 (dismissing appeal of trial court's July 29, 2004 Order for lack of jurisdiction) (R. 1178-81.).<sup>14</sup>

In sum, the Court should affirm the trial court's decision to deny D&K's Motion to Reconsider on the grounds that D&K was precluded from raising its substantial compliance defense under the law of the case.

---

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